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Copper was first discovered at and around Aroa, in the State 
of  Yaracuy, which came to be known by the Spaniards as the 

Aroa-Cumaragua mining region. The discovery is thought to 
have been as long ago as 1605, by Don Alonso Daiz de Oviedo, 
a native of Barquisimeto. The mineral was first mined in 1632 
under Don Francisco Nunez Melian, Governor of Venezuela, 
by the order of and permission from, the King of Spain. Mining 
was continued by the Governor’s successor, Ruy Fernandez de 
Fuenmayor, until it was decided to place the mining operations 
open to tender. Don Francisco Marin de Narvaez was the 
successful bidder, under conditions of a Royal Warrant dated 21 
August 1663, for the sum of 40,000 pesos, of which 30,000 were 
paid in Madrid and 10,000 in Carácas. The period of the lease 
was 18 years and the conditions such that after that time, Marin 
de Narvaez became the owner. On his death he left the property 
to his daughter Josefa, who married Don Pedro de Ponte y 
Andrade, who in 1716, became owner of the property18. The 
couple’s only daughter married Don Juan de Bolívar y Villegas 
and their son, Juan Vincente Bolívar y Palacios, was Simón 
Bolívar’s father and by this route, El Libertador, along with his 
two sisters19, acquired title to the property. This was in July 1811, 
when their father died on his way back from a trip to the United 
States. However, under Spanish law at the time, the sisters were 
not entitled to a share of the property and despite a petition to 
change this in 1813, the request was turned down by the King 
of Spain. Bolívar, as we have already seen, became the liberator 
of his country from Spanish rule, along with Bolivia, Columbia, 
Ecuador, Panama and Peru and it was from mining activities in 
these countries that the family is thought to have made much of 
their fortune. However, it would appear that Simón gave little 
attention to the mines in view of his other interests and in any 
event, little could be done during the War of Independence 
and it is known that the mines were not worked in the period 
1813 to 1821, while his sisters were living abroad. In the days of 
Spanish rule, labour was by the indigenous population, albeit 
working as slaves20. The object was to extract only one grade of 
copper ore, known as the Ruby, an oxide of copper so named 
in view of its reddish colour. It was much sought after by the 
Spaniards due to its relative ease of fusibility. 
We do have a limited amount of information on the early mine 

outputs and in particular, exports of ore from the operations 
which apparently, recommenced in 1790, after a period of 
inactively. On 21 September 1784, 229lb of ore was shipped out 
of the county by a company going by the name, Compañía del 
Carácas, aboard the barque SANTA TERESA. Between 1797 
and 1800, according to a Frenchman named Dauxion-Lavaysse, 
18,838lb of ore from the San Felipe mine was exported via the 
port of La Guairá, while in the years 1799, 1800 and 1801 
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respectively, the following quantities were exported: 6,494lb, 
12,114lb and 1,568lb. In these three cases shipment was via 
Puerto Cabello, some of this output also coming from the 
San Felipe mine. There is also evidence that some of what was 
described as clandestine mining, had taken place in these times 
which, undertaken indiscriminately and without experienced 
supervision, had left much of the workings in a poor state21! 
Prior to further discussing the mining operations, it is 

worth exploring a little of the local topography in relation to 
the location of the mines. The Coro Ranges of the Colombian 
Andes (Cordillera de Merida), at around 5,000ft above sea level 
in the north-west state of Falcón, extend south-east into the 
states of Lara and Yaracuy. Of these the Sierra Aroa, in which 
the Cumaragua and Aroa ore deposits lie, is a short range at 
about 4,000ft at the southern border. Two substantial rivers 
empty into the Gulf of Triste (Golfo Triste) of the Caribbean 
Sea, between Puerto Cabello and Tucacas, the Yaracuy and 
the Aroa. Puerto Cabello, about 72 miles north-west from the 
inland capital of Carácas, lies at the eastern extremity of the 
Gulf, which is about 30 miles wide between Puerto Cabello 
and Point Tucacas. About 20 miles further west from Tucacas, 
which is in the State of Falcón, the River Tocuyo also empties 
into the Caribbean. This river is over 400 miles long and 
twice the length of either the Yaracuy or the Aroa. It rises at 
over 9,000ft in the Venezuelan Andes, south-west of the City of 
Barquisimeto. The village of Aroa lies in a small lateral valley 
which itself runs into the valley of the River Aroa, about 45 
miles from the sea, the river discharging into the Gulf of Triste 
at Boca de Aroa (mouth of the river). The river rises about 20 
miles above the mines and the valley from which it originates is 
extremely narrow until it reaches the mines, where it widens out 
considerably. Some two miles to the south-west of the village, 
two other lateral valleys, which are perhaps, better described as 
ravines, enter the Aroa valley. Each one has a stream running 
through it, that on the south is the Quebrada and on the other 
side the Titiara22. During the winter months when the rainfall 
is heavy these two streams become torrents. In the high ground 
that forms a ridge between the two ravines at about 1,000ft 
above sea level, the Aroa mines are situated. The town of Aroa 
is adjacent to the more recent Yurubi National Park. The Andes 
mountain range is heavily mineralised and from a spur striking 
off the main range just below Panama, several ranges head 
eastwards, one of which runs down on the western side of Lake 
Maracaibo, while another heads further east, five miles into 
the Aroa mining company property at its inland end. It then 
continues towards the sea, dying out around 100 miles east of 
the capital of Carácas.
The Aroa mining estate was about 32 leagues long and 10 
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mine and smelting works. With this work complete, or at least 
well advanced, he returned to England. His replacement with 
the new title of Resident Agent and General Manager, was 
William Brown. The replacement of the original 30lb per yard 
wrought iron rails on mainline of the railway was now complete, 
with only 15 miles requiring proper ballasting. The new railway 
to Barquisimeto had opened on 5 December 1890, resulting in 
some through traffic on the Bolivar line. The railway receipts 
for the first four months of 1891 showed an increase of 33 
percent compared with the same period the previous year. Ore 
from the mines transported to the smelting works amounted to 
45,561 tons from Aroa and 9,188 tons from Titiara, while ore 

for shipment via the railway to Tucacas amounted to 17,874 
tons. The average copper content of the ore from the Aroa mine 
was 10.22 percent. With the improved smelting furnaces a 
greater quantity of ore, the majority in fact, was being smelted 
on site, resulting in a reduction in the amount transported to 
Tucacas for export. Three new locomotives at a total cost of 
£5,453 had been delivered in 1890, two of them, described in 
the annual report as for use on the mainline, having arrived 
early in the year. The third one followed in August, another 
of the articulated Double-Fairlie designs, quoted in the report 
as for use on the mines section of the railway. Two new first 
class carriages had also arrived at a cost of £775, along with 

Extract from the 
annual report of the 
Quebrada Railway, 
Land & Copper 
Company Limited, 
for the year ending 
31 December 1888, 
giving details of the 
general traffic on 
both the Bolivar and 
South West Venzeuela 
Railways. The statistics 
however, exclude the 
copper ore traffic. 

Extract from the annual 
report of the Quebrada, 

Railway, Land & Copper 
Company Limited, for the 
year ending 31 December 

1890, which has details 
of the locomotives and 

rolling stock, along with the 
floating plant. As by this 

time the SWVR was being 
operated by the Quebrada 

Company, its locomotive 
and rolling stock are 

included in the details.  
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a Goliath crane for the locomotive workshops to reduce the 
labour involved in removing and refitting the engines’ boilers. 
Also during the year the Chairman, Thomas Charles Bruce had 
died; he was replaced by Hugh Mackay Matheson, one of the 
partners of Matheson & Company.

The steamer VENEZUELA was written-off in 1889, replaced 
by the almost new SS BARQUISIMETO, which had already 

arrived. In anticipation of increased traffic following opening 
of the new line to Barquisimeto, a further steamer had been 
ordered and the SS TOCUYO was commissioned the following 
year. By November 1891 it was plying three times a week 
between Puerto Cabello and Tucacas. The steam ships and 
other vessels owned by the companies are discussed in greater 
detail in Chapter VII.  

More Railway Issues

From the following year, 1891, with the exception of the 
mineral traffic from the mines, the receipts for the two railways, 
the new South Western of Venezuela (Barquisimeto) Railway 
and the Bolivar Railway, were combined at £88,264, of which 
£21,075 was paid to the SWVR as part of the agreement for 
working the line. The total number of passengers carried on 
the two railways was 27,150, against 9,292 the previous year 
on the original line. While these are the first years for which 
we have any figures for passenger traffic, they show a healthy 
trend now that the two railways between them served the 
City of Barquisimeto, which had a population at that time of 
around 29,000. Output from the mines was increased by 35,185 
tons over the previous year, with 26,275 tons handled at the 
smelting works. Two more water jacketed furnaces had been 
commissioned and a new calcining bank with a capacity of 
10,000 tons had been built. At the Aroa mine the 40 fathom level 
had been deepened and the incline shaft sunk to 230ft. Some 
steam power plant had been introduced again, to supplement 
the water power as with the increased output, the latter had 
been unable to cope. The railway workshops at Pueblo Nuevo 
had been extended and a new locomotive running shed 

commissioned – it was 110ft long and 70ft wide. Twenty new 
wagons had been added to the fleet. On the railway, several 
bridges had been reconstructed in anticipation of a heavier 
level of traffic.

In regard to the new locomotive running shed discussed in 
the previous paragraph, it is worth mentioning Alfred Henry 
Kells (1858-1919), a native of Woolwich in Kent. Kells had 
served his apprenticeship in mechanical engineering at the 
Royal Arsenal and on completion, was employed there as a 
millwright. In 1881 he was appointed as a locomotive fitter 
on the Bolivar Railway and in 1889, became foreman of the 
running sheds and subsequently, general foreman for all 
railway mechanical engineering issues. His work included 
assisting in moving the workshops and principal locomotive 
sheds from Tucacas to Pueblo Nuevo. On return to this country 
in 1899, he worked at the Royal Arsenal again, but seems to 
have enjoyed life in Venezuela as in 1901, he was appointed 
works foreman for the La Guairá Harbour Works and in 1911, 
mechanical engineer for the entire harbour which included, 
cranes, dredging vessels, tug boats and fixed plant, along with 
the railway system and locomotives. He died in Curacao on 

Map of the Bolivar Railway. 
Although this map shows the 
complete railway, including 
the SWVR from De Empalme 
to Barquisimeto, along with 
the much later branch to 
San Felipe, it has been felt 
appropriate to include it here. 
The junction at De Empalme, 
with the original line to the 
mines, was more generally 
known as El Hacha, which 
was the name of the station; at 
least it was latterly.
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The Puerto Cabello & 
Valencia Railway

(Ferrocarril De Puerto Cabello a Valencia)

populace. Alexander von Humboldt, during his travels in South 
America, on a visit to the hot springs, is said to have boiled an 
egg in the waters in less than three minutes. See Appendixes 
VII and X for additional details of Humboldt’s travels. 

I have considered it appropriate to include a relatively brief 
summary of the history of the Puerto Cabello & Valencia 

Railway (PC&VR) on three counts. In the first, in view of its 
relationship with the companies that operated the Bolivar 
Railway as, over the years, they had a number of common 
directors, eventually leading to the two railways joining forces. 
Secondly, in view of the connecting line, which dated from 
1941, joining the two systems, albeit the track gauges were 
different. Thirdly, because of a possible link with some of the 
locomotives used by the earlier unsuccessful contractors of the 
Bolivar Railway. There is however, inevitably, some duplication 
with what has gone before, as well as in the next chapter, which 
covers the locomotives owned by both railways. The PC&VR 
dates from 26 September 1885, when the company was registered 
in England263. With a capital of £460,000, divided into 46,000 
shares of £10 each, like the BRC, it had a concession from the 
Venezuelan Government, in its case dated 24 February 1885. 
The line was 34 miles long, from the Caribbean port of Puerto 
Cabello, almost directly south to Valencia, with a track-gauge 
of 3ft 6in264. Opening in part on 1 April 1888, the concession 
was for 99 years from completion, guaranteed for the entire 
period at seven percent annually, on a capital of £820,000. The 
concession was originally granted to the contractors building 
the railway, Cutbill, Son & De Lungo, but transferred on 29 
September 1885, in agreement with the government, to the 
railway company265. Within its articles, the company had 
provision for a debenture issue of up to £360,000, at six percent 
interest, available if required, to cover any shortfall between 
the share capital and the construction and equipment costs. 
In the event, the share capital was fully subscribed, including 
£160,000 by the Venezuelan Government, which was very 
enthusiastic in wanting to improve inland communications. 
Among the original directors were Nathanial Geach Burch and 
William Newbold, who we have already met a number of times. 
The line cost £782,216 to build and equip. Readers may recall 
from Chapter V, that in March 1896, the government owned 
shares were sold to the SWVR. The high cost of construction 
was partly due to the need for a rack assisted section where the 
line passed over the Las Trincheras mountain range. The rack 
section, on the Swiss Abt system, was 23 miles from Puerto 
Cabello, two miles long at a gradient of eight percent, to a 
height of 1,952ft above sea level. Las Trincheras is famous for 
its hot springs, a spa opening in 1889 and today, the site forms 
a popular holiday resort and recreational centre for the local 

The contractors appointed John Carruthers (1836-1914), 
who we met in Chapter V, in connection with the SWVR, as 
its consulting engineer for the works. Carruthers, in a paper to 
the Institution of Civil Engineers which described the railway, 
pointed out that he happened to be in the country at the time 
the line was being planned and was asked by the President, 
Guzmán Blanco, to examine and report on the proposed 
route266. A scheme for the railway had been developed by a local 
army officer, General J C de Castro, who proposed a route with 
as uniform a gradient as possible which, in view of the terrain 
the line had to cross, would have been both costly to build and 
expensive in maintenance. Carruthers, having conducted his 
own surveys, suggested a route over gentler country with a 
grade not exceeding three and a half percent, albeit with the 
two mile rack section and this was the route selected. Born in 
Inverness, Carruthers served his pupillage between 1854 and 
1856, under William Benedict, the Chief Engineer of the Great 
Western Railway of Canada. This was followed by a further 
two years with Benedict on the Canadian Amboy, Lancing & 
Traverse Railway267. Subsequently, he was involved with railways 
in America, Russia, Mauritius and Egypt, followed by canal 
works in India. In 1871 he was appointed Chief Engineer of the 
New Zealand Public Works Department and between that year 

Map of the Puerto Cabello & Valencia Railway. Converted to miles, the 
total length was 34.2 miles.
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partly supported by the rolling stock returns in the company’s 
annual reports, which do not always show increases when new 
locomotives joined the fleet, just the total fleet numbers. This 
suggests that older ones had been withdrawn around the same 
time that new ones were received. The returns just give the 
fleet total, at any one time. In the report for the year ending 30 
June 1907, locomotives 2 and 10 were quoted as having been 
unserviceable for between six and three years respectively, 
being withdrawn as they were considered to be of no use. No 2 
would have been one the original Canada Works locomotives 
and No 10, one of the 1877 pair from Black, Hawthorn, although 

In 1892 the company went to yet another builder for its next two locomotives, probably with a view of some standardisation, as they were similar to 
the four that had recently been supplied to SWVR.  Fleet Nos 16 and 17 came from the well-established Leeds firm of Kitson & Company, maker’s 
numbers 3502 and 3503. These 0-6-2 side tanks engines were designed to predominantly run smokebox first, as they were not fitted with cow 
catchers at the rear end and only had a small rear lamp. Notice the Haycock firebox and the Walschaerts valve gear, with a cover over the sidebars, 
complete with an access door. This arrangement was designed to prevent the ingress of dirt on some of the motion parts and one is left wondering 
why something similar was not employed on all the locomotives. (Stephenson Locomotive Society Library)

Another page from the Kitson Locomotive Engines Album No 2, in the 
collection of the Stephenson Locomotive Society Library, illustrating in 
diagrammatic form, Bolivar Railway locomotives Nos 16 and 17.

This is a page from the Kitson Locomotive Engines Album No 2, held 
in the collection of the Stephenson Locomotive Society Library, giving 
some of the main dimensions of maker’s numbers 3502 and 3503, 
Bolivar Railway Nos 16 and 17.
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This advert for the railway appeared 
in a special Jubilee issue of The 
Railway News, celebrating the 
journal’s publication between 1864 
and 1914.

This is one of the first six 0-6-4 side tank 
locomotives built for the railway by Nasmyth, 
Wilson & Company of Patricroft, Manchester. 

The  maker’s numbers were 224 to 229 of 1882 
and the fleet Nos 1 to 6. Notice the engine has 

Joy valve gear and as was the case with the 
Puerto Cabello & Valencia Railway, this line 
too, used the Heberlein cable braking system. 

The cable guiding wheels are prominent on 
the cab roof and the chimney.


